ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 03 2012

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY HACKSHAW,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2010-177006

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court judge erred when he did not suppress the fruits of the execution of a search warrant, which revealed that Hackshaw had a computer print out of a mugshot taken of Ellison Hudson from his admission into the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center, when the search warrant was not valid because it lacked probable cause because it was stale?
  
- II. Whether the trial court judge erred when he allowed the state to admit a prior statement made by Torrian Gleaton when admission of the statement was improper under South Carolina Rules of Evidence, Rule 613(b) because Gleaton did not deny making the statement, but rather was refusing to cooperate by not testifying at trial?
  
- III. Whether the trial court judge further erred when he allowed the state to admit a prior statement made by Torrian Gleaton when admission of the statement violated Hackshaw's right to confront the witnesses against him in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments?
  
- IV. Whether the trial court judge erred when he refused Hackshaw's request to charge the jury that Torrian Gleaton, an uncooperative witness, faced up to life in prison for accessory **before** the fact of murder, and only charged them that accessory **after** the fact of murder carries up to 15 years, and when the officers informed him, during his interrogation, that he could be charged with "accessory to murder?"

V. Whether the trial court judge erred when he allowed the state to introduce evidence of a drug relationship between Hackshaw and Ellison Hudson when the admission of that evidence was not necessary for the state to prove its case and when the evidence was unduly prejudicial and highly inflammatory?

VI. Whether the trial court judge erred when he allowed the state to instruct the jurors on the law during the first portion of its closing argument and when doing so violates the South Carolina Constitution?

VII. Whether the trial court judge erred when he found that Hackshaw forfeited his right to last closing because he testified in his own behalf and offered a defense since doing so is an impermissible punishment for Hackshaw's exercising his constitutional rights and violated his right to due process?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Anthony Hackshaw was indicted by the Richland County grand jury for murder, 2 counts of assault with intent to kill, and use of a firearm during commission of a violent crime during its September 2009 term. Hackshaw was tried before the Honorable James R. Barber, III on October 21, 2010, and October 25- November 1, 2010 in Columbia. He was represented by Tara Dawn Shurling and Jeremy Thompson, Esquires. The state was represented by Kathryn “Luck” Campbell, Joanna McDuffie and Nicole Simpson, Esquires. He was convicted, and sentenced to 42 years for murder; 15 years for AWIK, 15 years for AWIK, and 5 years for the weapons charge.

This appeal timely follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Hackshaw was arrested in connection with events that occurred on May 20, 2009. On that date, Ebony Fogle was shot and killed. Testimony at trial revealed the following relevant facts.

Law enforcement was dispatched to 300 Juniper Street, Columbia, South Carolina, the home of Ellison Hudson, around 1:00pm. R. 160, ll. 13-16. When law enforcement arrived, Cleveland Joyner, Ellison Hudson, and the decedent were present. R. 161, ll. 1-4. Officers located several shell casing lying in the grass, and around the decedent's body. R. 165, ll. 2-12. Ten shell casings were collected by the Columbia Police Department. R. 193, ll. 11-12. Based on the existence of the shell casings, an officer testified that the gun used would have been an automatic or semiautomatic pistol. R. 193, ll. 22-25. Later, the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) searched the area with a metal detector and located additional projectiles. R. 210, l. 22- R. 212, l. 9. An expert testified that all of the 9 millimeter shell casings found at the scene were fired by the same weapon. R. 831, ll. 5-10.

Officer Brian Carroll of the Columbia Police Department (CPD) spoke briefly with Hudson and Joyner at the scene. He was informed that the decedent's assailants were two males, one "in black clothing" and "black hat", "5'10" and "190 pounds." R. 167, ll. 3- 23. Officer Carroll also heard there was a second assailant wearing a blue hoodie. R. 168, ll. 5-18. Hudson did not inform the officer that he knew either of the assailants. R. 169, ll. 11-14.

A witness who had just returned home from school testified that she heard the gunshots, and observed two guys running. One of them had a gun. R. 181, ll. 2-24. She did not see their faces. R. 182, ll. 10-14.

Officer Pete Currie, also of the Columbia Police Department, performed gunshot residue kits (GSR) on Hudson, Joyner and Fogle. R. 200, ll. 1-17. They were later analyzed by SLED. R. 201, ll. 17-20. Ms. Fogle's car was impounded, and processed by the CPD. R. 201, l. 21- R. 202, l. 11.

The state called Cleveland Joyner to testify during its case in chief. At the time of these events, he had known Hudson for approximately 2 years. They would "relax" and "smoke weed" together. R. 225, ll. 2-14. On this date, Joyner dropped his girlfriend off at work, and then headed to Hudson's house to smoke some weed. They were outside in the yard, and smoking their marijuana at a table in the middle of the yard. R. 227, l. 17- R. 230, l. 23. While they were enjoying their pot at the table, Fogle showed up at the house. Hudson was going to wash her car, and so she pulled her car into the backyard. R. 230, l. 24- R. 231, l. 25. Hudson had a gun on the backyard table. R. 232, ll. 5-16.

While they were in the backyard, they observed a silver Honda drive by. They then noticed the car drive by a second time. Hudson grabbed his gun and walked to the front yard. He walked back, and then started washing the car. They heard a car door close, and then Hudson yelled "Get the gun." R. 232, l. 21- R. 234, l. 17. Fogle was at the table; Hudson ran away. R. 234, ll. 18-25.

Joyner testified that he heard gunshots and then fell down. He saw someone in a blue hoodie run past him, chasing Hudson. He heard screaming and then more shots. He described the person in the blue hoodie as "tall and skinny." Joyner ran behind a shed with the gun in his hand. When he saw the person in the blue hoodie running down the other side of the street, he fired the gun at him. He ran after him, and saw the silver Honda drive down the road. R. 235, l. 7- R. 239, l. 25.

Joyner then took the shells out of the gun, and placed the gun under a couch in the house at the direction of Hudson. R. 241, ll. 12-22. The police arrived shortly thereafter, and Joyner told Hudson to get his (Hudson's) counterfeit money out of the house. R. 242, ll. 6-14. Joyner testified he never saw the shooter's face. R. 244, ll. 2-6. Joyner gave a statement to police recounting these events. R. 244, ll. 10-22. In this statement, he failed to inform the police that he had a gun. R. 253, ll. 3-23.

On June 3, Joyner gave another statement to the police. At that time, he gave them information about a purported "situation" between Hudson and Hackshaw that was relayed to him by Hudson. R. 245, ll. 8-19. Joyner testified that he related a message to Hudson from Hackshaw that "if he didn't give him his weed or his money that he was coming for his head." R. 246, ll. 17-23.

Ellison Hudson also testified during the state's case in chief. He testified that he had the gun on the table because he "had had numerous people" shoot up his house. R. 287, ll. 2-7. He testified that someone had even shot at his house a week before this event, and while his father was standing outside. R. 289, ll. 1-5. During cross-examination, Hudson admitted that his house had been shot up "maybe twice" before. R. 329, ll. 7-23. He testified that he "saw a tattoo" when the two men approached. R. 294, ll. 5-13. He later characterized this as a "little tattoo." R. 389, ll. 12-14. After the shooting, he called his father who worked at Best Buy on Two Notch Road. R. 302, ll. 9-18. Hudson testified that he got a good look at one of the shooters. R. 305, ll. 9-15.

Hudson testified that he lied to the police about the identity of the shooter. Asked why, he responded:

A: To be honest, I was scared, nervous at the same time. I wanted revenge, you know, because I just know it wasn't right.

Q: You wanted revenge on who?

A: That guy right there (pointing).

Q: So you blamed someone who had nothing to do with it?

A: Yeah. Yes, ma'am.

Q: And who did you pick to blame? How did you come up with him?

A: Just because previous incidents that I had with plenty of people shooting at my house. You know, once—I guess once people finds out where I stays at, then, you know, he had cahoots—he was a part of what was going on during the time, you know, but I was just mad, you know. Like I say, I just wanted revenge. I---

R. 305, l. 20- R. 306, l. 14.

In fact, Hudson told the police that he was "positive" that the shooter was Jonathan Bailey. R. 306, ll. 23-25. Hudson even described the tattoos on Bailey's arm to the police. R. 307, ll. 5-6. He testified that he had a "beef" with Bailey's "homie." "So, you know, there was people shooting at my house, you know, threatening, calling my phone or whatnot, snitch this, snitch that." R. 330, ll. 10-16. He testified that he told the police that Bailey would be after him because he had snitched on one of his friends who shot up Hudson's mother's car. R. 331, l. 17- R. 335, l. 4; R. 346, l. 1- R. 347, l. 18. When police spoke to Hudson again, on May 23, he told them that Hackshaw was the shooter. R. 308, ll. 1-14. Hudson admitted he had "no problem lying to the police and blaming an innocent man." R. 336, ll. 3-5. He claimed that he "told the truth" since he was locked up at the detention center, and knew he would not be able to exact his revenge on Hackshaw. He also

claimed that a discussion with his grandfather inspired him to tell the truth. R. 348, l. 6- R. 350, l. 22.

Hudson also described an incident that happened earlier to the police. He told the police that he had stolen drugs from Hackshaw approximately 2-3 weeks earlier, with a friend named "Hot Boy." He told them that they went to Hackshaw's apartment to buy marijuana from him. Instead, Hudson pulled a gun on him and stole the marijuana. R. 310, l. 24- R. 318, l. 4. He claimed that he and Hackshaw fired at one another at the apartment complex. R. 318, ll. 17-24.

Before he named Hackshaw as one of the shooters who killed Ebony Fogel, the police were asking Hudson about Hackshaw. R. 338, l. 24- R. 339, l. 12.

Hudson gave a statement to police on June 4<sup>th</sup> in which he informed them that he was "90 to 95 percent" sure that Hackshaw was the shooter. R. 412, l. 13- R. 413, l. 17.

Additional evidence the state presented in its case against Hackshaw was circumstantial. The state called Nina Gordon to testify that Hackshaw drove a silver Honda at the time of the murder. R. 452, l. 21- R. 456, l. 10. On cross-examination, she admitted that the police only spoke with her about these events over a month after they occurred, and that she only "remembered better" after speaking to a neighbor. R. 461, l. 3- 465, l. 10.

The state called Stephanie McGowan, Whitney Caruth, Mali Allen, and Norman Jenkins to shore up Jonathan Bailey's alibi at the time of the shooting. R. 453, l. 3- 519, l. 10. Law enforcement never contacted any of Bailey's gang associates. R. 1103, ll. 17-19.

The state called Shanelle Latimer to testify that Hackshaw's wife, Rosa, lent her a silver Honda the day after the shooting, which she then picked up that Friday. R. 520, l. 10- 523, l. 20.

Shaquenda Evans, Rosa's supervisor from work, also testified that she drove Rosa's car because she was interested in taking over the payments (the car belonged to Rosa's sister). They switched cars for a couple of weeks so that she could could "try it out." R. 527, l. 19- R. 533, l. 18.

The state called Lorraine Tracey, a nurse manager from the South Carolina Department of Mental Health and Bryan Hospital, Hackshaw's employer, to testify that on the date of the shooting, Hackshaw's timesheet indicate that he was at work from 7:00am to 3:30pm. R. 534, l. 7- R. 541, l. 9.

William Littlejohn was called by the state to show that Hackshaw usually drives a black Charger, but has seen him "riding in a gray Honda civic" and a green Honda. R. 544, l. 6- R. 545, l. 14.

The state called Jonathan Bailey who testified as to his alibi on the date of the murder, and also revealed that he has been convicted of shoplifting, assault on a federal employee, and that he was, at the time of this trial, indicted for three counts of armed robbery, criminal conspiracy, and possession of a weapon during a violent crime. R. 551, l. 9- R. 568, l. 1.

Sheldon McDowell ("Hot Boy") testified that he and Ellison stole marijuana from Hackshaw. R. 568, l. 12- R. 582, l. 20. He confirmed that Hudson first pulled out a gun during their robbery of Hackshaw. R. 576, l. 16- R. 577, l. 5.

An officer from the Richland County Sheriff's Department (RCSD) testified that he executed a search warrant at Hackshaw's apartment on June 8, 2009 and found a print out of a picture of Ellison Hudson taken at the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center. R. 680, l. 3- R. 686, l. 24.

Joseph Smith testified that Hackshaw told him he knew who had robbed him and that "he would call G. or Boss or someone, that he'll get it handled." R. 701, ll. 15-19. He also testified that Hackshaw was looking for 9 millimeter bullets. R. 702, ll. 2-5.

DNA extracted from one of the shell casings located at the crime scene did not match Hackshaw, Jonathan Bailey, Cleveland Joyner, or Ellison Hudson. R. 720, l. 10- R. 721, l. 12.

The state called Kelly Cobia, an employee with the Fusion Center at SLED. R. 768, ll. 18-25. Cobia testified that she analyzed the cell phone records and tower locations associated with Hackshaw's cell phone records. She testified that Hackshaw's cell phone was used in an area 2.04 miles from the decedent's residence around the time of the shooting (the decedent was killed at Hudson's residence). R. 773, ll. 4- R. 774, l. 18.

A jailhouse informant, Terran Hughey, with convictions for 2 counts of burglary, grand larceny, petit larceny, forgery, receiving stolen goods, another grand larceny, burglary, 3<sup>rd</sup> degree and assault on a corrections officers, told the jury that Hackshaw told him he was going to "get back at E. and Hot Boy." R. 795, ll. 12-14. According to this snitch, Hackshaw gave him details of the shooting. R. 796, ll. 1- R. 801, l. 24. In exchange for his testimony, he was allowed to plead to 2 counts of burglary 2<sup>nd</sup>, instead of burglary, 1<sup>st</sup> degree which, of course, carries up to a life sentence in prison. R. 800, ll. 11-24.

Another jailhouse snitch, Travis Golston testified that Hackshaw told him he intended to shoot "E" and "Hot Boy." R. 862, ll. 15-25. After Golston gave his information to the state, he received a bond reduction. R. 869, ll. 1-9. He was being housed at the detention center on charges of assault and battery with intent to kill. R. 860, ll. 10-12. He was released on a personal recognizance bond that the solicitor in this case signed. R. 882, l.

18- R. 883, l. 16. Golston has been convicted of giving false information to police. R. 881, ll. 10- R. 882, l. 12.

An investigator with CPD was allowed to read into evidence a statement purportedly made by Torrian Gleaton, a state's witness who refused to cooperate during trial. This statement is the basis for Arguments II, and III. R. 960, l. 14- R. 1009, l. 12.

The defense presented a case.

Rotania Grenald, Hackshaw's sister-in-law who lives in New Jersey, explained that she gave her car, a silver Honda, to her sister to bring back to South Carolina so that it would not be repossessed due to non-payment. Ms. Grenald testified that she needed time to collect money to bring her account up to date. After she did so, she wanted her car back. R. 1125, l. 20- 1132, l. 21.

Rosa Grenald, Hackshaw's wife, testified as the car exchange with her sister, but also informed the jury that when she and Hackshaw became aware that he was wanted in connection with a murder, they immediately travelled back to South Carolina from New Jersey. She also testified that she informed the police about the car situation with her sister, but that they were not interested in anything she had to say. R. 1151, l. 3- R. 1162, l. 25.

Paul Lomas, a physical therapist with Doctors Wellness Center and Progressive Physical Therapy testified that he provided therapy to Hackshaw on May 20, 2009. Hackshaw had been receiving therapy there for some time, and this was his second-to-last appointment. Lomas testified that he did not notice anything unusual about Hackshaw on that date. He testified that Hackshaw was there "around 1." R. 1254, ll. 2-3. According to the sign in sheet, it appears that Hackshaw was there at 1:30 pm. R. 1249, l. 12- R. 1259, l. 10.

Amos Jones, an investigator for the defense, testified that he informed Hackshaw not to discuss his case with anyone in the prison, and he also testified generally to the self-serving actions of jailhouse snitches. R. 1313, l. 17- R. 1323, l. 18. David McDougall, another investigator, testified about jailhouse snitches, too. R. 1348, l. 22- R. 1351, l. 17.

Then Anthony Hackshaw took the stand. He testified that Ellison Hudson robbed him on April 23, 2009. He admitted that Hudson was at his apartment to buy marijuana from him, but then pulled out a gun on him. "Hot Boy" pulled out a gun as well. He testified that they stole about 3 ounces of marijuana. R. 1390, l. 14- R. 1392, l. 24. This amount of marijuana was worth only about \$200-300. R. 1393, ll. 7-12.

Hackshaw also admitted that after they started shooting that he grabbed wife's pistol and returned fire. When the police arrived, he testified that he lied to them because he did not want them to know that he had a pistol or marijuana. R. 1394, l. 1- R. 1396, l. 7. In June, Hackshaw heard that his apartment had been searched by police in connection with the April 23, 2009 robbery. He decided to leave town. He found out later that the police wanted to question him about a murder, and not the robbery or the marijuana. He made arrangements with an attorney and returned to South Carolina. Hackshaw also confirmed that he was told repeatedly not to speak to others about his case for fear that jailhouse snitches would try to use information to their advantage. He also confirmed that his discovery materials were located in his dorm room at Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center. Hackshaw unequivocally denied that he shot and killed Ebony Fogel. R. 1398, l. 3- R. 1427, l. 16.

## ARGUMENTS

I. The trial court judge erred when he did not suppress the fruits of the execution of a search warrant, which revealed that Hackshaw had a computer print out of a mugshot taken of Ellison Hudson from his admission into the Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center, when the search warrant was not valid because it lacked probable cause because it was stale.

Prior to the start of trial, Hackshaw, through counsel, moved to suppress the fruits of the search conducted at Hackshaw's apartment based on a search warrant that was executed in connection with the prior robbery of Hackshaw by Ellison Hudson. R. 50, l. 3- R. 59, l. 1. The robbery occurred on April 23, 2009. R. 52, ll. 17-24. On June 5, the police executed the search warrant to look for evidence. Although Hackshaw was, in fact, the victim of this robbery, law enforcement sought to discover evidence of the crime in *his*, and not Hudson's, apartment. In any event, Hudson had, at the time of the execution of the search warrant, given a full accounting of the entire incident which occurred in the breezeway area of the apartment. Hudson never claimed to have even stepped foot into the apartment. Hudson gave a statement on June 4 to law enforcement that he went to Hackshaw's apartment back in April and robbed him. R. 54, l. 24- R. 55, l. 19.

The trial court judge summarily denied the motion. R. 58, l. 24- R. 59, l. 2.

The trial court judge erred because there was not probable cause at the time of the issuance of the warrant to believe that evidence of a crime would be found in Hackshaw's apartment related to the earlier robbery or shootout wherein he was the victim. The warrant was stale as it was executed over a month after the robbery and shootout occurred, and there was no reason to believe that any evidence would be found relating to those events.

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