**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2010-177006

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY HACKSHAW,

APPELLANT

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH  
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

BRENDAN J. McDONALD  
Assistant Attorney General

DANIEL E. JOHNSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Capital and Collateral Litigation Unit  
P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-3188

ATTORNEY(S) FOR RESPONDENTS

##

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

[W]e think [the drug background] makes a difference as to why [Appellant] would go to this extreme. You know, if the typical victim gets robbed, they aren't going to go back and retaliate by spraying multiple people in a back yard. It's when you get into the fact that this is based over drugs it makes sense, Your Honor, we feel like without it, it doesn't make sense.

(R. pp. 111-12). Clarifying, the trial court asked the State, "[s]o your position is the drug culture is a different element than . . . somebody else robbing a TV, or stereo or cash . . ." (R. p. 112).

The State submits this distinction is key because Appellant, despite his testimony to the contrary, was clearly angry with Hudson and was seeking revenge against him *unless* Hudson gave him either, the marijuana, or money from the sale of the marijuana, which according to Hudson, was worth about \$3,000. (R. pp. 246, 320). Indeed, even Appellant admitted he wanted Hudson to return the marijuana or give him money for the marijuana. (R. pp. 1397-98). Accordingly, identifying that marijuana was the property taken during the April 23rd incident was crucial because it answered what would have surely been lingering questions as to why Appellant could not have simply called police, reported his property stolen and relied upon police to reclaim his property. Therefore, the State submits that identifying the property taken during the April 23rd incident was extremely probative because it supported the State's revenge theory while simultaneously explaining why Appellant would have reacted to the April 23rd incident in such a violent manner instead of cooperating with police.

**E. The Prejudicial Effect of the Evidence Did not Substantially Outweigh its Probative Value**

Moreover, the State submits the prejudicial effect of the introduction of the evidence regarding the drug component did not substantially outweigh its probative value because Appellant eventually testified to this information in his direct examination. See Holder, 382 S.C. at 293, 676 S.E.2d at 698 (“The determination of the prejudicial effect of the challenged evidence must be based on the entire record, and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.”). Specifically, Appellant admitted on direct examination that: (1) Hudson was going to buy marijuana from him on April 23rd (R. p. 1392); (2) Hudson and McDowell had taken the marijuana from him at gunpoint, but the value of the marijuana was only between \$200 and \$300 (R. p. 1393); (3) he lied to the police regarding the April 23rd incident because there was no way

he could report the incident to police without admitting that he was in possession of marijuana (R. p. 1396); (4) he contacted Hudson in an attempt to get the marijuana back (R. pp. 1397-98); and (5) while he sold marijuana, he would not jeopardize his future by seeking revenge against Hudson over a mere \$200 to \$300 of marijuana. (R. pp. 1423-24). Accordingly, the State submits the trial court did not abuse its considerable discretion in admitting testimony regarding the drug component of this case, especially since Appellant eventually used the drug component of the case as the basis for a portion of his defense.

VI. The trial court correctly overruled Appellant's objection that the State's opening on the law violated the South Carolina Constitution

Appellant contends that Article V, § 21 of the South Carolina Constitution should prohibit the State from opening on the law arguing that by doing so, the State essentially usurps the trial court's role of declaring the law. The State disagrees.

**A. Presentation of the Issue**

Prior to closing arguments, defense counsel objected to the State "making an opening on the law." (R. p. 1474). In doing so, defense counsel noted that she recognized opening on the law was a common law tradition, but argued the South Carolina Constitution "states that it is the purview of the Court to determine what law is appropriate in a case and that the jury is to receive the law from the bench." (R. p. 1474). On that rationale, defense counsel concluded the practice of allowing the State to open on the law is inconsistent with the South Carolina Constitution. (R. p. 1474). In response, the State said "we would argue that it's the State's position not only to close last in this case because the defendant has presented evidence, relying on [State v. Gellis, 158 S.C. 471, 155 S.E. 849 (1930)] and also [State v. Pinkard, 365 S.C. 541, 617 S.E.2d 397 (Ct. App. 2005)]" but added "we would rely on [State v. Rodgers, 269 S.C. 22, 235 S.E.2d 808

(1977)] for the proposition that the State is entitled to open the closing argument to the jury . . .” (R. p. 1476).

Defense counsel responded stating “I don’t believe either of the cases cited by the State were argued on the constitutional principle put forth to the Court today.” (R. p. 1476). Thereafter, the trial court overruled defense counsel’s objection on the claim finding “the State has a right to open on the law, and I’m going to find that the State has a right to open on the law . . .” (R. p. 1476).

#### **B. Law Interpreting S.C. Const. Art. V § 21 and the State’s Right to Open on the Law**

Article V, Section 21 of the South Carolina Constitution provides “[j]udges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law.” “The purpose of this section is to prevent trial judge from intimating to jury his opinion of the case, what weight should be given to the evidence, and participating in any manner with jury’s finding of fact.” Enlee v. Seaboard, etc., Ry. Co., 110 SC 137, 146, 96 SE 490, 492 (1918). Further interpreting the “declare the law” portion of Article V, Section 21, the Supreme Court of South Carolina has explained “this simply means that the judge shall state the controlling principles of law applicable to the case in the light of the pleadings and the evidence[.]” Coleman v. Lurey, 199 S.C. 442, 446, 20 S.E.2d 65, 66 (1942). Yet, there is nothing within the text of the section which specifically designates the trial court as the *only* person who may *discuss* the law.

In fact, South Carolina Courts have previously recognized that the State must include a discussion of the law when opening on the law in closing arguments.<sup>14</sup> See Rodgers, 269 S.C. at

---

<sup>14</sup> A variety of other states also allow for counsel to discuss the law with the jury during closing arguments. See Whisnant v. State, 178 Ga. App. 742, 344 S.E.2d 536 (1986) (explaining it is proper for counsel to state, argue or comment on the law relevant to the case); Grinstead v. State, 845 N.E.2d 1027 (Ind. 2006) (same); State v. Griffin,

25, 235 S.E.2d at 809 (“There is nothing in Circuit Court Rule 58 which limits the initial closing argument to the law of the case, it simply requires a discussion of the law to be included in that argument if demanded by the defendant.”); State v. Lee, 255 S.C. 309, 317, 178 S.E.2d 652, 656 (1971) (overruled on other grounds) (explaining the State must discuss the law when opening on the law in closing arguments). Additionally, our Supreme Court has recognized that “[t]he right to open and close the argument to the jury is a substantial right, the denial of which is reversible error.” Rodgers, 269 S.C. at 24-25, 235 S.E.2d at 809. Thus, in South Carolina, “[t]he solicitor is entitled to open the closing arguments to the jury unless the defendant has offered no evidence” Gellis, 158 S.C. at 487, 155 S.E. at 855; and further, *must* discuss the law with the jury when doing so. Rogers, 269 S.C. at 25, 235 S.E.2d at 809; Lee, 255 S.C. at 317, 178 S.E.2d at 656.

### C. The trial court correctly overruled defense counsel’s objection

Here, the State submits the trial court correctly overruled defense counsel’s objection because, as detailed above, Article V, Section 21, in no way designates the trial court as the *only* person who may discuss the law with the jury and South Carolina law clearly holds the State’s right to open the closing arguments to the jury should include a discussion on the law. Rogers, 269 S.C. at 25, 235 S.E.2d at 809; Lee, 255 S.C. at 317, 178 S.E.2d at 656. Indeed, as detailed above, Article V, Section 21 merely provides that the trial court is responsible for *declaring the law*, which under South Carolina law, means it is ultimately responsible for determining the law *to be charged to the jury*. Coleman, 199 S.C. at 446, 20 S.E.2d at 66. (emphasis added). Thus, Section 21—a section which simply defines who determines the facts and who declares the

---

279 Kan. 634, 112 P.3d 862 (2005) (same); State v. Williams, 447 So. 2d 495 (La. Ct. App. 3d Cir. 1984) (writ denied 450 So. 2d 969 (La. 1984)) (same); State v. Wingard, 317 N.C. 590, 346 S.E.2d 638 (1986) (same); State v. Dowell, 705 S.W.2d 138 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1985) (same).

law—is not in conflict with the State’s well-established right to open on the law where the defendant has introduced evidence at trial since the State, by opening on the law, is merely discussing the law *with* the jury as opposed to declaring the law *to be charged to* the jury.<sup>15</sup> Indeed, this distinction is noted during the course of the State’s opening on the law when the State explains “[i]f I misquote the law in any way, please take the law as the judge gives it to you. He is the person that determines what the law is that you must apply to the facts.” (R. p. 1490). Accordingly, the State asks this Court to affirm the trial court’s ruling as to this issue.

VII. The trial court correctly overruled defense counsel’s objection that Appellant’s Due Process Rights were violated by the practice of allowing the State to have last closing when the defendant elected to present a defense

In his final argument, Appellant maintains his Due Process Rights were violated when the trial court, pursuant to long-established law, found that Appellant was not entitled to last closing since he presented a defense. Continuing, Appellant argues this practice “improperly punishes him” for exercising a legal right. Br. of App. at 35. In response, the State submits this state procedural practice does not improperly punish Appellant for asserting a legal right and adds that

---

<sup>15</sup> Indeed, it is clear the jury, who is sworn to follow the law and presumed to do so, is aware that the judge, not the prosecuting attorney, is the sole judge of the law, since the judge routinely instructs the jury as to each of the parties’ roles throughout the case. See e.g. R. p. at 77 (void dire instructions identifying that the State’s role is to prove the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt while the defendant has no burden of proof and is presumed innocent); R. pp. at 103-04 (pre-trial instructions reminding the jury to keep in mind that defendant is presumed to be innocent and has no burden while the State’s role is to prove the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt); R. pp. 127-28 (preliminary instructions informing the jury that the defendant has entered a plea of not guilty and the State has the burden of proving the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt); R. pp. 130-31 (explaining the purpose of closing arguments is for each side to review the evidence and highlight what they believe to be important); R. pp. 130-31 (detailing that the role of the judge is to instruct and charge the jury on the law); R. p. 131 (telling the jury they are the judge of the facts and he is the judge of the law); R. p. 131 (noting to the jury that arguments are not evidence and to remember the attorneys are advocates for their respective clients); R. p. 1489 (explaining the state will open on the law, then defense counsel will make its closing argument after which the State will make a closing argument); R. pp. 1573-74 (charging the jury on defense counsel’s and the State’s respective roles at trial); R. p. 1576 (charging the jury that the trial judge is the sole and only instructor of the law and that it must accept the law as the judge charges it).

Due Process in fact allows states to impose a variety of procedural requirements on a criminal trial.

#### **A. Presentation of the Issue**

Before closing arguments commenced, defense counsel asked that Appellant “be given the final closing statement to the jury in this case.” (R. p. 1474). In support of this request, defense counsel argued that “there should be nothing which occurs in the judicial setting that in any way punishes the defendant for exercising his constitutional right to put forth a defense to criminal charges.” (R. pp. 1474, 1475). In particular, defense counsel explained the common law practice of allowing a defendant last closing only where he does not present evidence essentially punishes a defendant for presenting a defense and thus violates his due process rights. (R. p. 1474).

Responding to this argument the State said “we are entitled . . . to have the last closing argument” citing to State v. Gellis, 158 S.C. 471, 155 S.E. 849 (1930) and State v. Pinkard, 365 S.C. 541, 617 S.E.2d 397 (Ct. App. 2005). Replying to the State’s argument, defense counsel stated, “I don’t believe either of the cases cited by the State were argued on the constitutional principle put forth to the Court today.” (R. p. 1476). Thereafter, the trial court ruled on the issue stating, “I’m going to find that the State has the right to make the last—last argument.” (R. p. 1476). Explaining the basis of the ruling the trial court said “[t]he defendant did put forth evidence in the case, and as a result, because the burden falls on the State of South Carolina to prove this defendant guilty of all charges beyond a reasonable doubt, they have the right to—to make that argument.” (R. p. 1476). Notably, the trial court failed to rule on the Due Process

claim, instead limiting its ruling to the state procedural question of whether Appellant was entitled to last closing based upon the evidence in the record.<sup>16</sup>

**B. The State's Right to regulate the procedural aspects of a trial and the reach of Due Process as it relates to the Exercise of a Legal Right**

In Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853 (1975) the Supreme Court of the United States determined a New York law giving judges in a nonjury criminal trial the authority to deny counsel the opportunity to present a closing argument violated Herring's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment Rights to the assistance of counsel. 422 U.S. at 863. In so holding, the Court, after explaining that the assistance of counsel guaranteed "the defense in a criminal trial the opportunity to participate fully and fairly in the adversary factfinding process" 422 U.S. at 858; elaborated on the importance of closing arguments stating:

It can hardly be questioned that closing argument serves to sharpen and clarify the issues for resolution by the trier of fact in a criminal case. For it is only after all the evidence is in that counsel for the parties are in a position to present their respective versions of the case as a whole. Only then can they argue the inferences to be drawn from all the testimony, and point out the weaknesses of their adversaries' positions. And for the defense, closing argument is the last clear chance to persuade the trier of fact that there may be reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt.

The very premise of our adversary system of criminal justice is that partisan advocacy on both sides of a case will best promote the ultimate objective that the guilty be convicted and the innocent go free. In a criminal trial, which is in the end basically a factfinding process, no aspect of such advocacy could be more

---

<sup>16</sup> Based upon the fact the trial court failed to rule upon the Federal Constitutional claim which was the basis of Appellant's Due Process objection, but instead ruled on the state procedural question—whether Appellant was entitled to last closing when the record demonstrated he had presented evidence—the State questions whether this issue is available for appellate review. Indeed, even defense counsel essentially acknowledged that neither Gellis nor Pinkard "were argued on the constitutional principle put forth to the Court today" implying they were based upon the state law procedural question highlighted above as opposed to the due process issue. Therefore, the State submits this issue is not preserved for appellate review. See I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (holding an appellant must present both his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before presenting the issues and arguments on appeal); State v. Williams, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991) (concluding appellate courts will generally not address an issue unless the issue was raised to and ruled upon by the trial court).

important than the opportunity finally to marshal the evidence for each side before submission of the case to judgment.

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